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after quarter of 3. And ny expectation is we probably will
go till 4:30, which is generally -- well, in light of the
fact we started at 8:15, a longer day, but that's fine.
kay?

(A recess was taken.)

THE COURT: Al right. M. Wverstad, do you want
to cone forward?

THE WTNESS: Sure. Learning where |'m supposed

to be is hard.

THE COURT: Well, 1've been a judge for 12 years.
| still don't know where |'m supposed to be, so it's okay.
kay.

MR PAWA: Matt Pawa for the defense. My it
pl ease the Court.
THE COURT: Yes.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MR PAWA:

Q Good afternoon, M. Wverstad.

A Hell o, Matt.

Q You said you joined GMin 1971; is that correct?

A January 1971 was when | started full tine.

Q That was a very interesting time for the autonobile

i ndustry; was it not?
A Al times are interesting, but certainly that was, as

wel | .
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Q In 1970 the Clean Air Act was enacted, correct?

A That's correct.

Q And that required reductions in traditional pollutants,
not greenhouse gases but traditional pollutants, on the
order of 90 percent by 1975; is that correct?

That's correct.

Hydr ocar bons, carbon nonoxi de, NOx, correct?

Yes.

And in 1975 EPCA was enacted, correct?

Yes.

o » O > O >

And for the first time that established fuel econony
standards, correct?

A Yes.

Q This was a tinme of great chall enge and change for the
aut onobil e industry; was it not?

A Yes.

Q Today for M. Hem ey you described a maxi mum t echnol ogy
scenari o, correct?

A Yes. | described our maxi mumtechnol ogy scenari o.

Q An engi neering exercise in which you prophesi ed great
harmto the automobile industry if the AB 1493 standards are
uphel d, correct?

A I only spoke for General Mdtors, but | would assune
it's simlar.

Q Fai r enough. For General Mdtors.

COURT REPORTERS ASSCOCI ATES
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And if -- if not follow ng the maxi mum technol ogy
scenario, you also testified that GMwoul d sinply pull
nodel s fromthe market; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q In -- in making these prognostications, did CGeneral
Mot ors go back and check any of its prior prognostications
when the Clean Air Act was conming along in 1970 to see how
accurate they were?

A No, we did not.

Q Did you check any of your prognostications when the
CAFE | aw, EPCA, was coming along in 1975 to see if they were
accurate?

A No, | did not.

Q Whul dn't you agree that it would be hel pful to check
and see if prognostications, very nmuch |ike those you' ve
made today, were also made by GMin the early 1970s yet
proved possibly incorrect?

A | don't see the relationship.

Q ' mgoing to show you a docunment we've narked as

Def endant' s Exhi bit 2551.

MR, PAWA:  Your Honor, does the original go to you
or to the witness?

THE COURT: The original goes to the witness.

Q This docunent is entitled "Federal Regulation of Motor

Vehi cl e Em ssions Under the Cean Air Act Amendnents of

COURT REPORTERS ASSCOCI ATES



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

73

1970," and it appears in the Ecol ogy Law Quarterly Vol ume 4,
Page 495, in 1975. And I'malso going to give you a

bl own-up page because the print is snall

A I have ny gl asses, though, so | could read it.

Q Whul d you pl ease read for the Court on Page 515 the
statenment in the early 1970s from General Mtors' Vice

Presi dent Ernest Starkman.

MR, HEMLEY: |1'mgoing to have to object, Your
Honor. There's no foundation yet for reading fromthis
docunent in any way.

THE COURT: You need to lay a foundation. He is
the 30(b)(6) witness. He has -- as | understand it, he's
testifying on behalf of General Mdtors Corporation. |Is
there any indication that General Mtors Corporation would
have known about this particular article or contributed to
this article in any particular way? Do you know t hat ?

VMR PAWA:  Not that GM contributed to it, but if
you | ook at the footnote, 97, that acconpani es the quote,
Your Honor, it refers to a renmand decision at the
Envi ronnental Protection Agency, refers back to an earlier
footnote from93, so this docunment is quoting froma
government record that was a remand decision fromthe D.C
Circuit to the Environnental Protection Agency.

MR, HEMLEY: Well, Your Honor, there sinply is no

authentication. This is an article that was witten by a
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| awyer for the Public Interest Research Group. Who knows
how accurate these various statements are or whether they've
been properly vetted? W just don't know.

THE COURT: Well, you know, | appreciate that, but
it does say remand decision, hearing transcript at; | guess
a DC Circuit opinion?

MR, PAWA:  An EPA renmand hearing on remand from
the DDC. Circuit, Your Honor. |If you |ook at Page --
Footnote 93 in the prior page.

THE COURT: kay.

MR, HEMLEY: The problemwi th this, Your Honor, is
t hat what we have here -- and |I'm not doubting the good-
faith representations at all, but what we have here are
several paragraphs out of undoubtedly a nuch | onger
docunent. There's no way | -- | can look at this docunent
and know what cane before or after the quoted | anguage. So
it's really sinply inappropriate, and it's obviously
hearsay, and there's no exception to the hearsay rul e of
which | amaware that would allow M. Pawa to cross-examn ne
until there is an adequate foundation |aid.

THE COURT: kay. Well, this is froma transcript
of -- well, tell ne again. Were is this fron®

MR, PAWA:  The Environnmental Protection Agency
hearing on a renmand decision froma challenge to a ruling by

the EPA, and the remand cane fromthe D.C. Crcuit back down

COURT REPORTERS ASSCOCI ATES
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to the agency.

THE COURT: kay. And have you verified the
accuracy of that particular --

MR PAWA:  Your Honor, | was not --

THE COURT: -- paragraph?

MR PAWA: -- able to get ahold of that remand
transcript.

THE COURT: Al right. Well, this is a court
trial, and for what it's worth, the Court will permt you to
ask the question. Go ahead.

BY MR PAWA:

Q Coul d you read that statenent by Vice President
Star kman of General Motors.

A Those are the two -- the paragraph that follows his
nanme there?

Q Yes.

MR, HEMLEY: May we at |east have -- and | don't
want to interrupt. | really don't. 1'mespecially aware of
the tine pressures here. May we at |east understand that
he's not necessarily reading the statenent of the vice
presi dent of General Mdtors. He's reading what was reported
by this lawer in this article, and that's the weight to
which it should be -- which it should be given. W just
don't have a basis for know ng exactly how accurate or

i naccurate it is to suggest that this was a statenent by a
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Ceneral Modtors anyt hing.

THE COURT: Well, as | read this -- and this is
the difficulty with this. As | read this, it is taken from
a transcript of that particular hearing, and the I ogical
conclusion is that GV Vice President Starknman testified
exactly to this, and that those are his words. That's the
| ogi cal analysis here fromPage 29 through 30. But it's --

MR, PAWA:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Co ahead.

MR, PAWA:  Thank you.

THE COURT: | nean, you shoul d have had the
transcript here regardless. Go ahead. Ask your question.

MR, PAWA:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE WTNESS: "If GMis forced to introduce
catal ytic converter systens across the board on 1975 nodel s,
t he prospect of an unreasonable risk of business catastrophe
and massive difficulties with these vehicles in the hands of
the public nust be faced. 1t is conceivable that conplete
stoppage of the entire production could occur with the
obvi ous trenmendous | oss to the conpany, sharehol ders,
enpl oyees, suppliers, and comunities. Short of that
ultimate risk, there is a distinct possibility of varying
degrees of interruption with sizable dislocations."

BY MR PAWA:

Q M. Weverstad, do you recall GM maeking predictions in

COURT REPORTERS ASSCOCI ATES
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the early 1970s that catalytic converters could cause GMto
potentially shut down?

A No, | do not.

Q Do you know if the installation of catalytic converters
did cause GMto shut down?

A We installed catalytic converters beginning in 1975.

Q And it did not cause any substantial business
interruption for General Mtors, didit?

A | was a | aboratory test engineer in 1975, so if it --
if it did or didn't, I was unaffected. Didn't know about

it.

Q And again, it's your testinony that in putting together
t he maxi mum t echnol ogy scenario for this case and in putting
t oget her the prognostications about pulling vehicles from
the market, GM never went back to look at its predictions
for what woul d happen in response to the 1970 Cean Air Act,
correct?

A No, we did not.

Q " mgoing to show you what's been narked as Defendant's
Exhi bit 2552.

A Am | finished with this one?

Yes, sir.

Do you want it back?

You can keep it.

> O » O

Al right.

COURT REPORTERS ASSCOCI ATES
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Q Thi s docurnent is a letter fromthe Autonpbile
Manuf acturers Associ ati on dated August 27, 1970, to Senator
Ed Muski e of the Senate Environnment Committee, and | would
direct your attention, please, to Page 1578, which is the
third page of the docunent.

And let ne ask you first, do you know who the

Aut onobi | e Manuf acturers Associ ation was at that tine?

A | -- based on what | know now, | -- | know what they
were. At that tinme |I'd never -- never stepped foot in

t here.

Q Based on what you know now, who is that entity?

A It is the forerunner of the Alliance of Autonobile
Manuf acturers, | would -- | would guess.

Q And the Alliance is a plaintiff in this case, correct?
A Yes.
Q And General Motors is a nmenber of the Alliance,
correct?
A Yes.
Q Ckay. Could you pl ease read the paragraph begi nning,
"It presently appears.”

MR HEMLEY: |'mgoing to object again, Your
Honor. We are even further appealed with this exhibit than
we were with the previous one. M. Wverstad is not here as
a representative of the Aliance of Autonobile

Manuf acturers, and he certainly isn't here as a
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representative of the Autonobile Manufacturers Association
and to now ask himto endorse statenents with which he is
totally unfam |iar nade by organi zations which he is not
representing and which are no longer in existence is
objectionable. It's pure hearsay, and there's no exception
that | amaware of that would satisfy this question

THE COURT: Well, just to put this in context,
this is a letter fromthe Autonobile Association --
Anerican -- Autonobile Manufacturers Association?

MR PAWA: This is included in the -- the
conmittee hearing records of the Senate Environnment
Committee, Your Honor. W pulled it froma law library, and
it was included in the legislative history of the 1970 C ean
Air Act.

THE COURT: kay. Well, it seens to ne he's a
representative of General Mdtors. | mean, arguably you had
sonme connection to General Mtors in the earlier subm ssion
That's not the case here other than the fact they're just
menbers; and al so, by the way, he didn't even start working
full time for General Mdtors until 1971, which is one year
after this letter was witten. So this -- | agree with
M. Hemley that that is a bit far afield. There m ght be
ot her ways in which you can introduce his testinony as a
party to this case, but as far as cross-exam nation of him

he can't be testifying in any particul ar way about

COURT REPORTERS ASSCOCI ATES
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statenents fromthe Anerican Manufacturers -- Autonobile
Manuf acturers Associ ati on because he doesn't represent them
in any way. So the objection is sustained --

MR PAWA:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: -- as to this docunent.

MR PAWA:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Ckay?
BY MR PAWA:
Q M. Weverstad, it's your testinony that General Mdtors
has not gone back to | ook at any of the prognostications
with respect to the -- EPCA, the Energy Policy and
Conservation Act of 1975, or the Cean Air Act of 1970 in
formul ati ng the max technol ogy scenario or the potential to
renmove nodels fromthe market in Vernont or other AB 1493
states, correct?
A No, | did not.
Q Ceneral Mdtors expects to be in conpliance in 2009 and
2010 with the AB 1493 regul ations under its current product
plans; is that correct, M. Wverstad?
A For -- under the current plans -- let nme |ook for sure.
| don't want to nake a mistake for you. |In Vernont in 2009
and ' 10 for trucks, we would be in conpliance, and for
passenger cars for 2009.
Q And you're pretty close -- looking at Plaintiff's

Exhi bit 900, you're pretty close for passenger cars/LDT1s

COURT REPORTERS ASSCOCI ATES



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

81

for 2010, correct?

A W're -- we're actually pretty close for 2010 in being
nonconpliant, and on -- on the trucks, and pretty close to
being, within a squidge there, size of the nunber.

Q My question was sinply whether or not GMis very close

to 2010 to being in conpliance for passenger cars/LDT1s.

A I guess the only -- only question that |I have is

what -- what does "very cl ose" nean?

Q Well, what's the nuneric size there?

A | can't -- | can't give you that nunmber. | would agree

that we're certainly closer than we are in 2011

Q It looks fromthe chart Iike you' re at about 29.6 for

t he standard and about 29 even for where you expect to be in
2010, correct, for passenger cars?

MR, HEMLEY: |'msorry to interfere, Your Honor
but we nmade -- we went to great lengths, as the Court has
acknow edged, to avoid the introduction of specific data
with respect to these charts, which is why we established

them as approximate. We will concede that the chart shows

what the chart shows, but unless there is -- if thisis to
be persisted, | think we need to approach the bench and
di scuss whether this would fall into the category of

i nformati on of such inportance that it is appropriately part
of the --

THE COURT: The parties have stipulated to the use

COURT REPORTERS ASSCOCI ATES
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of the chart, as | understand it. The chart was provided by
the plaintiff, not objected to by the defendant. The chart
was being used. The chart shows that in 2009 and 2010
there's a relatively close rel ationship between GV s
expectations as to where they will fall and -- and the
standards under the regulations, so let's not make a federa
case out of this -- this particular point, and -- so I'd
move on.

BY MR PAWA:

Q M. Weverstad, you'll be able to use a credit from 2009
for the passenger cars to help you conply for 2010, correct?
A Yes. And | would -- | would point out that 6/10ths of
amle, while it |ooks close nunerically, in our business a
tenth of a mle per gallon is a dramatic inprovenent.
Certainly well within the range of things that can be done.
But when you get up to a nunber like .6, that's -- that's a
significant change. Even though nunerically it |ooks very
cl ose.

Q But you will be able to -- to help conmply in 2010 using
a carry-forward credit from 2009, correct?

A W woul d -- under -- yes. Under these assunptions, we
woul d have sone credit in 2009.

Q Now, AB 1493 was enacted in 2002; is that correct,

M. Weverstad?

A AB 1493 | believe was passed by the legislature in that

COURT REPORTERS ASSCOCI ATES
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year .
Q And the regul ati ons were proposed in Septenber 2004,
correct?

A Yes.

Q And they were adopted in Septenber 2005, correct?

A Yes.

Q And Ceneral Mdtors submitted coments during the

rul e- maki ng process, correct?

A Yes, we did.

Q And you're not aware of any major changes in the |ast
two or three years in General Mdtors' forward-I| ooking

product plans, are you?

A In the past two -- we make changes to our product plans
every -- every quarter, every nonth. So once again,
dependi ng on changes, you know, | don't know where you're

headed with ne, but certainly we nake changes.
Q Do you recall testifying at your deposition that you
were not aware of any mmjor changes in the last two or three
years in your product prograns?
A Once again, | very well may have --

MR, HEMLEY: Can | have the page and |ine nunber
if we're going to be confronting --

THE COURT: He's asking the general question at
this point. He's not using specifically the page and |ine

nunber. So if he renenbers testifying to the deposition

COURT REPORTERS ASSCOCI ATES
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that's fine. |If not, then you can show hi mthe page nunber
and tell M. Henley what the page nunber --

MR PAW It was the Septenber 2006 deposition,
Page 175, lines 34 through 15, and we're going to go ahead
and play it for you.

VMR, HEMLEY: Excuse ne, Your Honor. Whoa.

THE COURT: Wait. Wit a second. Wiit.

MR PAWA:  Yes.

THE COURT: You've he got a pending question as to
whet her or not he renenbers whet her he made those statenents
or not.

MR PAWA. Right.

THE COURT: And | haven't heard M. Wwverstad's
response - -

MR, PAWA:  Thank you.

THE COURT: -- to that particul ar question.

So do you renenber responding in the way that
M. Pawa just indicated; that is, that there were no mgjor
changes in the product plans over the past couple of years?

THE WTNESS: Under ny definition of "mgjor

changes,"” | probably said that. | don't specifically
renenber it, but that's sonething that | |ikely would have
sai d.

BY MR PAWA:

Q We're going to showit to you now to refresh your

COURT REPORTERS ASSCOCI ATES
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[Video clip of deposition of Al an Wverstad
pl ayed as foll ows:
Q Were you involved in any discussions within Genera
Mot ors about a significant change in product mx, the kind
of vehicles that you woul d expect to be producing over the
next three to four or five years conpared to what you were
| ooking at two or three years ago, whether it's due to
changing oil prices or other kinds of conditions?
A. I'mnot aware of any major changes in the last two
or three years in our product prograns.
Q You haven't been involved in any discussions in
t hat respect?
A. | have not been in any di scussions.]
THE COURT: kay. That's in relationship to
product m xes or prograns; is that --
MR PAWA:  Yes.
BY MR PAWA:
Q That was a true statenent; was it not, M. Wverstad,
i n your deposition?
A VWhat -- yes.
Q Al right. GMhas a five-year business plan; does it
not, M. Weverstad?
A Yes, it does.

Q Does the five-year business plan include the
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elimnation of any particular nodels fromthe Vernont market
or any other AB 1493 mar ket ?

MR HEMLEY: Excuse ne, Your Honor. There's,
again, an intrusion into an area that we have specifically
negoti ated woul d not becone part of this trial. At |east
not in a public way. It's specific with- -- plans to
wi t hdraw specific products from specific marketplaces is
confidential, and it's exactly what we're tal ki ng about.

THE COURT: Well, ny understanding is that there
woul d be inquiry into general nodel types, et cetera, and is
that the question that you're asking; or are you asking for
himto identify specific vehicles that he wishes to -- or
that GV wi shes to term nate?

MR PAWA: |'mnot going to ask for the names of
any specific nodels. |I'm asking whether or not the
five-year plan includes pulling specific nodels fromthe
market. In other words, has the decision been nmade as part
of the five-year plan.

THE COURT: Well, all right. But you' re not
asking himto go into the details --

MR PAWA:  No.

THE COURT: -- of what product lines they've
identified as renmoving -- as being renoved fromthe market.

MR PAWA: Correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: kay. As to the general question
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whet her or not GMhas a plan in its -- part of its five-year
plan to elimnate any types of vehicles in any general area,
is there such a plan?

THE WTNESS: Not yet. W can close -- we can
shut off production fairly quickly. The -- those vehicles
are sold nationwide. So, therefore, if we chose to stop
production for Vernont, that would be fairly easy to do. So
we do not yet have a specific plan that lists specific
nodel s to shut off.

BY MR PAWA:

Q You have no business plan that's approved beyond the
five-year horizon; is that correct, M. Wverstad?

A We do not have an official business plan beyond the
five-year horizon.

Q And you do not have a CAFE forecast beyond the
five-year horizon; is that correct?

A We have a CAFE forecast beyond the five-year horizon
There exi sts one of those.

Q Do you recall testifying at your deposition that you
don't have a forecast of CAFE beyond 2011, which at that
time was five years out fromyour 2006 deposition?

A Vel |, maybe | could better explain what we do have and
what we don't have. What we do have is beyond 2011, is we
take the information that we have for 2011 and we carry it

forward. We -- we don't make any changes. So | don't know
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how you want to characterize that, but that's what we have.
Q Do you recall testifying in your deposition that in
GM s submi ssions to NHTSA where it projects future fuel
econorny, anything past 2011 is just guessing fromyear to
year ?
A Educat ed guessi ng, yes.
Q I'd like to show you what's been marked as Defendant's
Exhi bit 2554.
A Thank you.
Q This docunent is titled "Witten Testi nony of G
Ri chard Wagoner, Jr., Chairman and CEOQ Ceneral Mtors
Cor poration, Before the House Energy and Conmerce Conmmittee
Regarding Cimte Change and Energy Security."” Do you
recogni ze this docunent?
A Yes, | do.
Q Directing your attention to Page 3. Yes. The third
page of the document. Could you read, please, the sentence
in the mddle of the page starting with, "The nost." "The
nost recent fuel econony.”
A In the middle of the page.
Q Par agr aph begins, "In addition."

Yes. Ckay. | see that. Al right. After -- the --
yes. | see the sentence. You want nme to read that
sent ence?

Q Yes, sir.
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A "The nost recent fuel econony rule for light trucks has
now set in place increases for seven consecutive years, 2005
to 2011, increasing the standards by 16 percent, about 2
percent per year, and for the first tine adding to the

regul ated fleet the largest SUVs in the market."

Q That was a true statenent; was it not?

A Yes.

Q And | ast week when you were deposed, did you not say
that you did not know what portion of the maxi mum technol ogy
scenario cost figures include the cost that would be
incurred by GM anyway in order to conply with the increasing
CAFE st andar ds?

A That's what | said.

Q And was that correct?

A At the tinme it was correct.

Q And have you changed the maxi numtechnol ogy scenario in
the | ast week?

A No. What we did was we cal cul ated the cost and sent
you a nmeno along those lines so that the costs that we

showed today refl ected your suggested change.

Q Directing your attention back, please, to Plaintiff's
Exhi bit 903.
A I don't have those nunbers on it, so --

Q This woul d be the notebook for M. Henl ey.

A Thi s?
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Q Yes, sir.

MR, HEMLEY: It's Nunber 18.

THE WTNESS: GCkay. That's better
A Yes, sir.
Q The CAFE forecast -- or | should say the fuel econony
forecast for GMis flat all the way out from 2011 to 2016
correct?
A That's correct.
Q And why does it not take into account the increasing
fuel econony standards of the federal government?
A Wl |, because the federal governnment hasn't increased
t he standards beyond 2011 yet.
Q But you expect to be in conpliance with changi ng CAFE
st andards; do you not?
A Yes, | do.
Q And GM has been in conpliance in the last ten years,
correct, and paid no fines?
A That's correct.
Q And is this really GMs best estimate that CAFE
standards will sinply stay flat after 20117
A If -- if you recall on our charts, we showed the little
flashlight beamthat showed a | ow and a high, so we actually
predict that the fuel econony standards will increase. How
much, we don't know. That's why we have a | ow and a high

range.
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Q In putting together the maxi mumtechnol ogy scenari o,
did GM use as a baseline a fuel econony average for GV s

fleet that would be in nonconpliance in future years?

A A baseline for what purpose?
Q For cal cul ati ng nonconpl i ance and costs.
A W& -- we changed that after our deposition of whenever

that was - was that |ast week or the week before - so that

it took into account anticipated increases.

Q So does the baseline in the maxi mumtechnol ogy scenario
as you' ve described it today take into account the changi ng

CAFE standard fromyear to year?

A It takes into account the costs associated with neeting
them vyes.
Q And does it -- does it assune that GMwill be in

conpliance in all future years?

A Yes.

Q Did the maxi numtechnol ogy scenario attenpt to grapple
with the i ssue of whether or not Congress or EPA woul d begin
regul ati ng greenhouse gases at any time between now and
20167

A We did not take into account what Congress may or nmay
not do.

Q So you essentially assigned a zero probability chance
of that happening, correct?

A We did not assign any probability, and in fact, if you
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take a | ook at our charts, once again, there is a range

that's associated with what we think m ght happen

Q M. Wverstad, GM sells clean diesels now, does it not?
A We sell diesels that neet the existing em ssions

st andar ds.

Q In recent years diesels have gotten much, nuch cl eaner

have t hey not?
A Yes, they have.
Q GM sel | s cl ean di esel engines now for SUVs and trucks,
correct?
A W sell diesels only above 8500 pounds.
Q But you do -- you do sell themfor SUVs and trucks,
correct?
A No SUvs. Only -- only trucks.
Q And does GM nmake a profit on those sal es?
A | don't believe that I"'mat liberty to tell you if we
make a profit or not on those.
Q Are you | osing noney on thenf?

MR, HEMLEY: Sane -- sane -- | didn't object
earlier, but this invades the sane issue, Your Honor

Thank you, M. Wverstad, for alerting us.

THE COURT: Al right. Objection sustained. But
can | just ask, you have a clean diesel engine now-- a
cl ean diesel transm ssion now over 8500 pounds. 1Is there

some technol ogi cal reason why that clean diesel engine could
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not be provided for vehicles under 8500 pounds?

THE WTNESS: That particular engine is a very
large V8 truck engine, so it wouldn't fit in many vehicl es.

THE COURT: Sure. But technol ogywi se, why -- if
you can nake it for a big truck like that, why can't you
make it for a smaller vehicle?

THE WTNESS: Well, in -- two itens here. Nunber
one, the emissions standards are reduced for vehicles above
8500, so the stringency is somewhat reduced. W are |ooking
at developing a snaller diesel engine that we could put into
sport utilities. W have not rel eased that yet.

Q GMcurrently offers diesel engine options for nearly

all of its passenger-size cars in Europe; is that correct?

A Yes.
Q " mgoing to show you what's bei ng marked as
Exhi bit 25- -- Defendant's Exhibit 2555.

A Thank you.
Q This docunent is a printout fromGJUs Wb site entitled
"Clean Diesels Dispel Qutdated Dirty Inage.” Do you

recogni ze this as a printout fromGvus Wb site?

A Yes.
Q Down towards the bottomit says - this is the second to
| ast paragraph in the mddle of the page - "One of every

three new cars sold in Europe is powered by cl ean diese

technol ogy, and in the prem um and | uxury categories nore
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than 70 percent are clean diesels.” Do you know if that's a

true statenent?

A I don't know the specific nunbers personally, but since
it's in this docurment, I -- | would -- would assune they're
correct.

Q You have no reason to doubt that, do you?
A No, | do not.

THE COURT: Do you see -- ordinarily, before you
read froma docunment, you introduce it into evidence unless
it's a prior inconsistent statenent, and then it's even
i ntroduced just for that limted purpose. Are you seeking
to introduce this particul ar docunment so that, therefore,
you coul d read?

MR PAWA:  Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: kay. |Is there any objection to -
well, let's see - DX 2555, which is apparently taken from
GM's Wb site?

MR HEMLEY: | don't think that -- no. I'Il just
say no. No objection.

THE COURT: Al right. Now, that's admtted.

(Defendant's Exhibit 2555 was received in
evi dence.)

THE COURT: Now that you've read fromit, you can
go on.

MR PAWA:  Yes. Your Honor --
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MR PAWA: Let ne offer the prior one, as well.

THE COURT: Ckay.

MR, PAWA: The statenent from M. \Wagoner into --

I think I got ahead of nyself. Let nme --

one, as well, into evidence, as well.

et

me offer that

THE COURT: Any objection to -- do you have that

mar ked?
MR PAWA: W did, Your Honor, and it was 2554.
THE COURT: 2554. Any objection to 25547
MR, HEMLEY: | just want to understand the
proffer. 1s the suggestion that the entirety of these

docunents are going into evidence for consideration by the

Court, or are we limting the offer to those portions which

are read?

THE COURT: Well, at this point h
entire exhibit.

MR, HEMLEY: Well, | need to spen
| ook at the Wagoner statenent, then, but I
avoid interrupting the exam nation. W can

THE COURT: Co ahead.

MR, PAWA:  Your Honor, we introdu
at the deposition that M. Henl ey attended,

bef or e.

e's

d a

can

do

ced

SO

of fering the

nmonment and
certainly

that | ater.

it |ast week

he's seen it

MR, HEMLEY: |'ve seen a lot of things in the | ast
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week, Your Honor. | don't renenber all of them

MR PAVA:  Xkay.
BY MR PAWA:
Q So directing your attention to the next sentence:
"These vehi cles produce a net effect of 30 percent to 60
percent fewer greenhouse gas em ssions than conparable

gasol i ne engi ne nodel s and get significantly better fue

econonmy." Is that a true statement?

A Yes.

Q And - -

A In Europe. These are European cars you're speaking of.
Q Wl l, would those cars emt fewer greenhouse gas

em ssions if they were used outside of Europe, M.
Wever st ad?

A Well, they can't be used in the United States because
they don't neet the vehicle em ssions standards, but if they
were, they would produce less than | guess -- | don't know
what the baseline is here, either. But certainly they' re an
i mprovenent, we agree

Q You have no reason to quarrel with that 30 to 60
percent figure, do you, M. Weverstad?

A No, | do not. | just don't know what baseline they're
neasured to.

Q And the | ast paragraph of that first page states,

"Despite limted availability and | ack of consumer
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know edge, nearly one in three new vehicle buyers in the
U S. said they woul d consi der purchasing clean diesel
technol ogy, approximately the sane nunber that stated they

had heard of the technol ogy according to a J.D. Power &

Associ ates survey.” Do you know if that's a true statenent?
A Once again, it's included in here, so | assume it's
true. | did not do the study. | have not seen the study,

so | don't know, but we wouldn't have included it if it
wasn't true, | suppose.

Q GM woul dn't put something false on its Web site?
A Not that |I'maware of. O course not.

Q In Burope GM sells a diesel hybrid, the Opel Astra,
that gets about 59 mles per gallon; is that correct,

M. Weverstad?

A I"mnot certain of that -- of your nunbers, no. But --
Q Does that sound wong to you?
A ["mnot -- I'mnot famliar with the -- with the actual

data on that vehicle, no. But does it sound wong? No.

Q GM has just introduced a new 6.6-liter V8 turbo diesel
i n August of 2006; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q And the engine is revised to neet new stringent 2007
federal emissions regulations; is that correct?

A For heavy-duty vehicles, yes.

Q That's correct, yes? And GM has just introduced a new
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V6 cl ean diesel engine to be sold in Europe in Cadillacs as
announced |l ast nonth; is that correct, M. Wuverstad?
A Yes.

Q And GMis devel oping a diesel version of its |ight

trucks, light trucks, for the US. market; is that correct?
A Yes.

Q And Saturn is exploring clean diesels; is that correct?
A Certainly exploring is -- yes.

Q For sale in the U S., correct?

A Possi bl y.

Q And there's no engi neering reason why di esel engines

cannot go into passenger cars; is that correct?

A If you have the right size vehicle and enough radiator,
nmeets the em ssions standards, | suppose you could put a

di esel engine in, yes.

Q A diesel engine is nore efficient than a gasoline
engine; is that correct?

A A di esel engine burns fuel that has nore energy per
gal l on, yes.

Q That was not ny question. M question is whether or
not the engine itself is nore efficient than a gasoline
engi ne.

A The efficiency of a diesel engine is slightly greater
theoretically than the theoretical efficiency of a gasoline

engi ne, yes.
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Q And that's why in general diesels get better fue
econony than gasoline engines, correct?

A | would say the reason they get better fuel econony is
because there's nore energy per gallon

Q But the engine itself is nore efficient than the
gasol i ne engi ne, correct?

A We're tal king the difference between 32 to 33 percent
and maybe 34 to 35 percent.

Q And sonme of that gain in efficiency -- sonme of that
gain in efficiency is lost in terns of the CO2 advant age of
those cars, is it not, because the fuel -- the diesel fue
has nmore carbon per gallon than a gallon of gasoline,
correct?

A That's correct.

Q And so when an aut onpbil e conpany ranps up the
productions of diesels in its fleet and you average the

ef fect of those diesels across the entire fleet, you do not
get a direct one-to-one relationship in the inprovenent of
fuel econony and the reduction of CO2 em ssions, correct?
Want ne to try it again?

A Yeah. That was -- you said a lot of words there, so --
Q Yup. Yup. ay. |If you increase the nunber of
diesels that you sell in the United States and you take an
average effect on fuel econony, that average effect on fue

econonmy will not bear a one-to-one relationship with the
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average inpact of the fleet CO2 eni ssions, correct?
A Just like we tal ked about earlier where gasoline has a

certain relationship fuel to CO2, diesel has a sinilar

relation- -- a relationship, just different nunerically.
Q For an individual car?

A For an individual car or multiple nunbers of cars.
Q But when you average di esels across your fleet, you

testified at your deposition, did you not, that there was a
di fference inpact that did not bear a one-to-one

rel ati onship on fuel econony versus CO2 em ssions, correct?
A If | said that, | may have m sspoken. There is a
direct relationship. It is not the sane relationship as
gasoline, but there is a consistent relationship.

Q Doesn't it have to be true as a natter of basic math,
M. Weverstad, that if sonme of the efficiency gain of the
engine is lost in ternms of the CO2 benefit because there's
nmore carbon in a gallon of diesel than gasoline, then you
cannot have a one-to-one rel ationship between the inpact on
average fuel economnmy and the inpact on average fl eetw de CO2
em ssi ons?

A | guess I'm-- I'm-- you' ve got nme confused as to what
you nmean by "a one-to-one relationship” here. Mybe if we
took a piece of paper and wote it down for nme, 1'd

under stand better, but --

Q  \well --
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am certainly confused by what you're telling nme now.

" mgoing to show you a piece of your deposition to

refresh your recollection.

MR CLUBOK: Can you tell us what page it is

before you put it up?

MR PAWA:  Yeah. This is Page 108 of the April

deposition, Line 21, through Page 109, Line 16.

[Video clip of deposition of Al an Wverstad

pl ayed as foll ows:

Q Are you famliar with the fact that diesel fuel has

nmore carbon in it per gallon than gasoline?

A
Q
A

Q

Has nore energy as well.
Right. Are you famliar with those facts?
Yes.

Are you famliar with the fact that a diesel engine

is nmore efficient than a gasoline engi ne?

A

Slightly nore efficient, yes.

Q And it's true, is it not, that when you average

di esel

vehi cl es across your fleet, you don't get an exact

one-to-one relationship between the fleet average change in

f uel

econony and the fleet average change in greenhouse gas

em ssi ons?

A

There is a different relationship with the

gr eenhouse gas. ]

/

/

/
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BY MR PAWA:

Q That was a true and honest statenent; was it not,

M. Weverstad?

A That's what | said. And also ny collar was up. |
apol ogi ze for that. But | -- what | nmeant -- |'mnot sure
what you think I meant, but what | nmeant is there's a

di fferent amount of carbon content in a gallon of diese
fuel than in a gallon of gasoline. Everything beyond that,
I don't know what you're tal king about, so --

Q M. Wverstad, let's talk about ethanol. GMis an

i ndustry leader in ethanol with nore than 2 mllion E85
flexible fuel vehicles on the road in the U S., correct?
A Yes.

Q And you -- as you said before, you have an annua
producti on of nore than 400, 000, correct?

A Yes.

Q And GM has flex-fuel vehicles on the road in all 50
states, correct?

A At this time we do.

Q And et hanol burns cleaner than gasoline, emtting fewer
snog-form ng substances; is that correct?

A Yes, it does.

Q The nunber of ethanol stations is growing rapidly; is
it not?

A We have now sonet hing just under 1200 ethanol stations
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in the country out of about 170,000, so it doesn't take much
to make it look like it's growi ng rapidly.

Q Are you famliar with GMs Wb site which states that
t he nunber of ethanol stations is growing rapidly?

A I think, once again, growing rapidly, with only 1200,
50 stations is a big increase.

Q And GM publicly touts its role promnently in

i ncreasi ng the nunmber of E85 stations around the country;
does it not?

A Yes, it does.

Q And GMis part of a program the 25 by '25 program

i ntended to expand biofuels to supply 25 percent of the

nation's transportati on needs by the year 2025, correct?

W certainly hope so.

A Yes.

Q Do you believe that that goal is achievable?
A 25 by '25?

Q Yes, sir.

A

Q

In 2006 GM conmitted to double its production of E85
vehi cl es by 2010, correct?

A Yes. Double the nunber we're buil ding now

Q And in Novenber of 2006 GMwent further and said it is
prepared to make fully half its annual vehicle production
bi of uel capabl e by 2012, correct?

A Providing that the E85 fuel is available, yes.
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Q Are you famliar with the well-to-wheels anal ysis under
AB 1493 for measuring the CO2 inpact of an ethanol -capabl e
vehi cl e?

A [I"'mfamliar with well-to-wheel studies on E85, yes.

Q And you're famliar with the AB 1493 standard t hat

i nposes a wel |l -to-wheels analysis on the CO2 em ssi ons?

A Yes.

Q And are you famliar with how the well-to-whee

anal ysis of CO2 em ssions fromcorn ethanol conpares with
gasol i ne?

A Yes.

Q And that's an inprovenent over the gasoline CO2

emi ssions; is it not?

A Yes, it is.

Q Inits Live Geen, Go Yellow ad canpaign, GMtells the
Ameri can people that use of ethanol reduces greenhouse gas
em ssions, correct?

A Yes.

Q You indi cated before that E85 ethanol, when -- strike
t he questi on.

VWhen you are operating a flex-fuel vehicle on E85,
it has a cruising range that is about 25 percent shorter
than the sane vehicle operating on gasoline, correct?

A Wll, it's -- has a potential that's about 27 or 28

percent |ess range, but because of the high octane, it -- we
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hope it does even better than 25 percent.

Is there another way of describing that shorter range?
Yes, there is.

VWhat's that?

Less fuel econony.

So --

In mles per gallon.

O » O » O » O

In mles per gallon.

So E85 vehicles get worse fuel econony but have
better inpact on CO2 em ssions, correct?
A Yes. Froma well-to-wheel analysis.
Q Has GM asked the California Air Resources Board about
how it could conply with AB 1493 usi ng et hanol ?

A W have not asked about AB 1493.

Q Has GM | ooked at ethanol as a means of conpliance with
AB 14937
A W& have | ooked at it and found sonme probl ens.

Q Do you recall testifying in your deposition that GM had
not | ooked at ethanol as a nmeans of conpliance with AB 14937
A I think we're quarreling with small words. As | said,
we did -- | believe we tal ked about did we talk to the Air
Resources Board about conplying with AB 1493, and the answer
to that is no. The reason that we haven't | ooked at
conpliance is because we took a look at a list of problens

and said it wouldn't be -- it's not an avail able option for
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us.
Q So GMis not |ooking at ethanol as a neans of
conpl i ance right now?

A That's correct.

Q And you have not been asked to do so by managenent,

have you?

A No, | have not.

Q Does GMsell to fleets in California?

A Presently we sell E85 vehicles in California.

Q Does GM sell cars generally to fleets in California?
A Ch, I"'msorry. Yes, we do sell cars to fleets in
California.

Q And into other states around the country, correct?
A Yes.
Q And sone fleets can nonitor and record the ethanol --
t he actual ethanol usage of a flex-fuel vehicle to see if
it's actually been -- strike the question

Sonme fleets can actually nonitor and record the
et hanol usage to ensure and record that the flex-fue
vehicle is being operated on E85 and not gasoline, correct?
A | suppose that you could do that.
Q GM has an on-board di agnostics proprietary device
call ed OnStar, correct?
A That's correct.

Q Coul d you describe OnStar.
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A OnStar is a device installed on vehicles that all ows
you to make phone calls; it allows you to ask for
assi stance; sends safety if you -- if the air bags are
depl oyed; other things.
Q It nonitors the -- OnStar has the capability to nonitor
t he actual operation of the vehicle, correct?
A It nonitors many devices on the vehicle, yes.
Q Scores of devices, correct?
A | don't know the exact nunber of devices it nonitors,
but certainly --

THE COURT: Getting away from ethanol at this
poi nt ?

MR PAWA  No. My -- ny --

THE COURT: Because | have sone fol |l ow up
guesti ons about that, but go ahead.

MR PAWA: My logic will beconme apparent in just
one nonment, Your Honor, if | could continue. 1t's comng

ri ght back to ethanol

THE COURT: Al right. Then I'Il wait for ny
guesti on.
A There is a question that | haven't answered? |'m
Sorry.
Q I s there any engi neering reason why OnStar cannot be

used to monitor the actual ethanol usage of a flex-fue

vehi cl e?
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A Presently I'mnot aware that we have -- are able to
nmoni tor the actual usage of ethanol in a vehicle. W -- we
nmoni tor many devices. W're taking a look at it. But we
don't store that information. So it is a wi ndow of data
that we record. It is a subscription service that after one
year expires. So even -- even if there was a way to
determine if the engine's using ethanol or not, I'mnot sure
we -- we have that data and can share that data. There's
privacy concerns, as well.

Q M. Weverstad, ny question is whether or not there's
any engi neering reason why OnStar or some other simlar
on-board di agnostic device cannot be used to nonitor the

act ual ethanol usage of a vehicle.

A I think there's a potential problemof how you store
all that nmuch information, and I'mnot sure it has been
shown yet that we can actually nonitor the al cohol content

of the fuel

Q But is there an engi neering reason why that's not
possi bl e? You're a trained engineer; are you not,

M. Weverstad?

A Yes. I'mtrying to think of -- I"'mtrying to think of
reasons why -- it's very difficult to prove a negative, so
with -- with the constraints that |I've given you, | guess |

don't know of a reason why we couldn't, but clearly we'd

have to make a | ot of changes in the systemin order to nmake
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it work.
Q And -- and OnStar currently measures the actual fuel
econony of the vehicle that it's actually getting on the
road; is that correct?
A VWhat it does is it nmeasures the amount of fuel through
the system and how nmany mles it travels and does the
cal cul ati on.
Q And it sends an e-mail to the customer every nonth,
correct?
A Many vehi cl es al so have that by just pushing a little
button on your car that will keep track of the fuel econony
measuri ng how much flows out of the tank and how nuch goes
through the -- and how many mles you travel. Yes.
Q My question is sinply whether or not the OnStar system
sends an e-mail report of the OBD, on-board diagnostic,
tests to the custoner every nonth.
A It does send a diagnostic report out, yes.
Q Does the max technol ogy scenario use E85 et hano
flex-fuel vehicles in any fashion as part of the potential
means for conpliance with AB 14937
A No, it does not.

MR, PAWA:  Your Honor, did you want ne to pause SO
you coul d ask a question?

THE COURT: Thank you.

I just -- | want to ask you a little bit nore
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about E85. You testified that -- essentially that by using
et hanol, E85, the rate of EB5, there would be a reduction in
fuel econony at the sane tine there would still be, at |east
vis-a-vis gasoline, a reduction in CO2, as well. 1Is that
what | understand you to say?

THE WTNESS: Well, what | said, or what | neant
to say incase |l -- 1 didn't, there is a greenhouse benefit.
So there's less total CO2 enmitted on a well-to-wheel basis.
But because -- the fuel econony is reduced because there is
| ess energy in a gallon of ethanol than there is in a gallon
of gasoline. It has alcohol, which has its own oxygen with
it. So that if you -- if you look and say fromthe tail pipe
how much CO2 benefit is there froman E85 vehicle, the
benefit is only due to the fact that ethanol has sone higher
octane and we're able to calibrate for sonme snal
i nprovenents in -- in fuel econony because we add nore spark
toit. The real benefit of ethanol is in the tota
wel | -t o-wheel analysis, not in driving the vehicle.

THE COURT: Okay. Well, when you're tal king about
gasoline, you -- you described a mathematical formula;
basically from C®2 em ssions fromthe tail pi pe, you can
det erm ne what fuel econony is and vice versa

THE WTNESS: Right.

THE COURT: Is there such a corresponding

mat hematical formula in regard to E85?
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THE WTNESS: Yes, there is.
THE COURT: Is it different?
THE W TNESS: It is different because the anount

of carbon in the fuel is different between gasoline and E85

as well as it's different fromthe -- the carbon content in
diesel fuel. But it's the same process. It's a known
process. It's a mathematical cal cul ation

THE COURT: And assuming that you're using
flex-fuels so that the ratio of ethanol to gasoline may be
anywhere between zero and 85 percent ethanol to gasoline,
how do you use a mathematical fornula to calculate that if
in fact you' ve got no -- by way of OnStar or some other way
of cal cul ati ng how much et hanol you're using, you can't
really figure out how rmuch ethanol was being used in the
gas.

THE WTNESS: You're exactly right. The formul as
that we're tal ki ng about are when you have a known specific
fuel. Wien we run our em ssions test procedures and our
fuel econony test procedures, we have a very defined, very
specific fuel that -- that we know t he exact nakeup of the
fuel and carbon content. When it gets into the real world,
it's -- it's not the sane calculation. And it varies
from-- fromstation to station; it varies on the anmount of
al cohol. So you're exactly right.

THE COURT: Well, so as a general matter, if nore
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et hanol was used in gasoline -- | just want to nmake sure
that | understand this. |If nore ethanol was used in
gasoline, would in fact on the average the CO2 rati o go down
froma particular mle -- or gallon as opposed to the fue
econonmy? And that is, fuel econony is -- is decreased, but

at the sane tine the CO2 may be decreased, as well? On the

aver age?

THE WTNESS: On the -- yeah. On the average E85
will give -- froma tailpipe, will give a small CO2 benefit.
Very small. \ere you get the real benefit -- greenhouse

gases is well-to-wheel.

THE COURT: Sure. No. | understand that.

THE WTNESS: And so what you've said is -- you're
exactly right. Because you have to use nore fuel to travel
the mle, you end up making -- the fact that there's | ess
carbon in a gallon, because you use nore gallons, it -- it
gets eaten back up again.

THE COURT: Sure.

THE WTNESS: So the nunbers --

THE COURT: So the fact is your average per
gal l on, your average m | eage per gallon, goes down.

THE WTNESS: Right.

THE COURT: But al so, because it's ethanol, you
al so have, of course, a reduction in --

THE W TNESS: Yes.
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THE COURT: -- CO2 emi ssions.

THE WTNESS: Just a slight difference

THE COURT: kay.

THE WTNESS: Fromthe tail pipe.

THE COURT: Al right. GCkay.
BY MR PAWA:
Q M. Weverstad, could you explain what a well-to-wheels
anal ysis is?
A A wel |l -to-wheel analysis assunes the entire cycle that
it takes fromdrilling a hole in the ground -- that's where
the well came from |In the case of ethanol, we -- we farm
it, but it's fromthe -- fromthe tine the oil is -- or the
gasoline is -- the fuel is created, | should probably say,
fromthe beginning to the end. Fromthe begi nning of
producing the fuel to the end where it's driving the vehicle
forward
Q So are you famliar with the term "upstream benefits"?
A Yes.
Q Could -- and could you explain howthat relates to the
wel | -t o-wheel s anal ysi s.
A The upstream benefit, at least in ny view, is the
benefit that occurs while maki ng of the fuel
Q So in the case of corn-based ethanol --

THE COURT: And of shipping the fuel to the

location to which it's sold.
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THE WTNESS: Yes. Wen we do the well-to-whee
anal ysis on ethanol, we include into it the farm ng that
goes into planting the corn and fertilizing the corn
harvesting the corn, creating the -- the corn mash, taking
it froma starch to an al cohol, and then delivering it to
the station. That's all taken into account.

THE COURT: But at |east, as far as | understand
it, inregard to those charts which descri be between 2011
and 2016 essentially a flat -- | think M. Hem ey used the
word flat mles per gallon scale --

THE W TNESS: Yes.

THE COURT: -- you did not in any way consider the
use or devel opnent of ethanol as -- as an alternative, at
least in regard to those particular statistics?

THE WTNESS: For a couple of reasons, though
Nunber one, we didn't feel that we had an adequate way of
being able to explain to the governnment that ethanol was
actual ly used, and then maybe the nore inportant reason is
that E85 has a problemin the way it is certified in
California, and we -- we are concerned about evaporative --
passi ng the evaporative em ssions test and passing the col d-
start hydrocarbon test. Under those two conditions, we --
we woul d not be able to certify the vehicle, and so,
therefore, we would not be able to sell the vehicle into a

California state.
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BY MR PAWA:

Q AB 1493 uses a well-to-wheels analysis for the CO2
benefits of ethanol, correct?

A Yes, it does.

Q M. Weverstad, your testinony earlier today - correct
me if I"'mwong - is that if GM pursues sonething |like the
max technol ogy scenario, GMwi Il be losing large quantities
of nmoney by conplying with the AB 1493 regul ati ons as best
it can with wi despread use of hybrid technol ogy; is that
right?

A That's the choice that we made in our max technol ogy
scenari o.

Q GMcurrently sells several different hybrids, correct?
A Yes.

Q It has three different kinds of hybrid technology in
the market; does it not?

A At the present time we have not -- the AHS I] is not

i nto production, avail able yet, but we do have different --

what we call BAS and BAS+ technol ogi es.

Q And the AHS Il is coming out next year, correct?

A Yes.

Q In several different GM nodel s?

A Yes.

Q VWhat do you think is the fuel econony benefit of the

AHS 11 hybrid system versus a conventional gasoline engine
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in ternms of the percentage inprovenent?

A We think it's much inmproved. | don't -- | don't have a
specific nunber in mnd, and if |I did, I'"'mnot sure |'d be
allowed to tell you.

Q GMis currently selling the Saturn Vue Green Line in
the 2007 nodel that's a hybrid, correct?

A Yes.

Q And that uses the belt alternator starter hybrid

system correct?

A Yes.

Q And that vehicle is selling very well; is it not?
A It -- it'sinthe -- in the market today, yes.

Q It stays on the dealer |lots an average of about 13

days; is that right?

A It's a rather limted production run, so | don't -- |
assune you're correct. You wouldn't -- you wouldn't m sl ead
me with your nunbers.

Q It's not selling poorly, is it?

A Oh, no. No. It sells well.

Q In 2008 GM's going to be releasing the Saturn Vue G een
Line front-wheel drive with a two-node or AHS Il hybrid
system correct?

A Cal endar year? Model year? | think it's -- | think we
may have those confused, but we are introducing the first

front-wheel -drive AHS Il in the Saturn Vue, yes.
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Q " mgoing to show you what's bei ng marked as
Def endant' s Exhi bit 2563.
This is a printout fromGVMs Wb site entitled

"Saturn Aura Green Line - The Lowest Priced Hybrid -

Certified For $1300 Tax Credit." Do you recognize this
docunent ?
A Yes. | believe you showed it to me during ny

deposi tion.
Q Do you have any reason to doubt it's a true and correct
copy of a printout fromGVs Wb site?
A No, | do not.

MR PAWA: We'd like to offer this exhibit into
evi dence, Your Honor

THE COURT: Any objection to 2563?

MR, HEMLEY: No objection

THE COURT: It is admitted.

(Defendant's Exhibit No. 2563 was received in
evi dence.)
BY MR PAWA:
Q The second to | ast paragraph on the front page states,
"In 2008 Saturn will offer the Vue Green Line with the first
front -wheel -drive application of GMs new two-node hybrid
systemthat is expected to deliver up to a 45 percent
i nprovenent in conbined city and hi ghway fuel econony

conpared with the nonhybrid Vue." Do you see that?
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A Yes.
Q That's a true statenent; is it not?
Yes. And the confusion that we had previously is, once
again, that's in 2008, which is a 2009 nodel year
Q So this 2008 refers to the cal endar year 2008; is that
correct?
A Yes.
Q The next sentence says, "A plug-in hybrid that has the

potential to achieve double the fuel efficiency of any

current SUWV is also in devel opnent for the Vue." Is that
true?
A It's under devel opnent, yes.

Q And it says in the next sentence, "This hybrid SUV wll

use a nodified version of GMs two-node hybrid system and

pl ug-in technol ogy," correct?

A Yes.

Q That's true?

A That's the plan.

Q M. Weverstad, as you sit here today, isn't it a fact

that there is a great demand for nore fuel -efficient

vehicles in the United States marketplace generally?

A You forgot to read the next sentence in this press
release. It said --
Q Wl |, your attorney, |I'msure, can ask you that on

redirect if he'd |iKke.
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MR, HEMLEY: You can count on it. But you can do
it nowif you like.

THE COURT: It's cross-examnation. |It's up to
you. So you want to go to another topic? That's fine. He
can bring it up on redirect.

MR PAWA: Well, there's a topic here about
[ithiumion batteries he wants to tal k about, which we will
get to.

THE COURT: kay.

Q M. Weverstad, as you sit here today, isn't it a fact
that there is a great demand for nore fuel -efficient
vehicles generally in the United States marketplace?

A Absolutely. There is -- with $3 gasoline, there was a
great demand. It kind of fell off. As prices are going up
it certainly is increasing demand.

Q And GM boasts that it |eads the industry with nore
vehi cl es than any ot her conpany that achieved 30 mles per
gal lon, correct?

A Yes.

Q Producing a fleet of vehicles compliant with AB 1493
woul d hel p satisfy the demand for inproved fuel econony
across the nation; would it not, M. Wwverstad?

A If we could neet the AB 1493, that would certainly

i nprove the fuel econony of all of our -- of vehicles and

nmeet that demand, yes.
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Q Do you recall testifying in your deposition about
consuners can do math and that they won't spend a thousand

dol lars to get back $500 in fuel econony?

A Yes.
Q I"mgoing to ask you to do sone cal culations with ne.
A Al right. Are they sinmple, or --
Q | have a cal culator for you.
A Ch, great.
Q It's solar powered, you'll be glad to know.
THE COURT: Don't tell me engineers never |earn
mat h.

Q And we may be able to do this in your head, but if not,
| want you to have that with you.

A W al ready have an answer on this one. Wuen | pressed
it on, it's got a nunber.

Q That's how you know I'ma lawer. Al right.
A Should I clear it?
Q Yes, pl ease.
A kay.

Q See if we can do this in your head. |If not, you can
use the cal cul ator.

A Al right.

Q The Saturn front-wheel drive that's not a hybrid that's
on the market today gets a conbined 24 mles per gallon

correct?
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A Yes.

Q Al right. And if you drive 15,000 mles per year
you're using 625 gallons of gasoline a year; is that
correct?

A Yes.

Q And if gasoline is selling for $3 a gallon, the fue
costs are $1,875 for that nonhybrid vehicle operation for

the year, correct?

A I"mgoing to -- I"mnot even going to bother
calculating. I'mgoing to assunme you did correctly.

Q Al right. If it sounds off, you request to use the
calculator and we'll let you.

A Certainly.
Q Al right. So if you switch to the hybrid that's
com ng out in 2008 that gets 45 percent better fuel econony,
your savings are going to be $844 a year, right? 45 percent
of $1, 875?
A Ch. You're -- the savings in dollars. Yes.
Q Is that right?
A I"mcounting on the your math skills, but you look to
be capabl e of doing that math.

THE COURT: | thought it was 45 percent
i nprovenent over the current hybrid, which is not exactly
the scenario that you tal ked about. AmI -- am| wong? |

t hought that's what it said.
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MR PAWA: It says 45 percent inprovenent over a
conventi onal

THE WTNESS: Over the nonhybrid version

MR PAWA: |If you look at the second to | ast
par agr aph, Your Honor

THE COURT: kay.

All right. So that's a fuel savings of $844 a year?
Yes.
Are GMvehicles built to last?

Yes, they are.

o » O » O

kay. So if it lasts five years, that's $4,219 in fue
savi ngs, correct?

A That's correct.

Q And if it lasts ten years, that's over $8,400 in fue
savi ngs, correct?

A It will last that |ong.

Q And that's -- does that sound like the correct fue

savings to you?

A I"mcounting on your math skills, but I -- I'"mtrusting
you here.

Q It doesn't sound wong to you, does it?

A No.

Q You have no reason to dispute that?

A No, | do not.

Q And will a GMvehicle |ast 15 years?
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A Yes, | believe it will.

Q Whul d you dispute that the fuel savings for owning that
vehicle for 15 years woul d be over $12, 600?

A Yes. Another $800. We're assuming $3 every year.

Q And if it was $2.50 a gallon, then we'd have to | ower
our savings by about 1/6th, correct?

A 2.50 divided by three, yeah

Q Al right. So instead of a 15-year savings of $12, 600,
it mght be sonething |ike $10,600, correct?

A kay.

Q No reason to dispute that, M. Wverstad?

A No. I'mtrusting your nath.

Q M. Weverstad, you agree that GMis conpetitive with
Toyota from a technol ogy standpoint on hybrids?

A Yes. They m ght quarrel with that, but | certainly
bel i eve we are.

Q Has GM been using hybrid technol ogy to boost the

hor sepower of any of its vehicles?

A Boost the horsepower?
Q Vell, let nme ask it -- let me ask it to you this way.
Is -- the Saturn Vue hybrid, does that vehicle have a higher

hor sepower than the nonhybrid?
A VWhat happens is you can downsi ze the engine or you can
add on the horsepower of the electric notor. So it depends

on what you do.

COURT REPORTERS ASSCOCI ATES



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

124

Q Do you recall testifying in your deposition that the
Saturn Vue hybrid had 27 horsepower -- was greater in

hor sepower by 27 than the nonhybrid Saturn Vue?

A Yes.

Q That was true, correct?

A Yes.

Q And all other things being equal, boosting the

hor sepower of an engi ne decreases the fuel economny, correct?
A In -- in the real world or on the test procedure, or

what do you mnean?

Q In the real world.
A Vll, in the real world, horsepower -- a 27-horsepower
i ncrease may or may not change the overall fuel econony. It

depends on how you dri ve.

Q Do you --

A The hor sepower mneans that you have the ability to use
nmore fuel and turn it into power; and by using nore fuel
t hat woul d decrease fuel econony.

Q Do you recall testifying in your deposition that in
general boosting the horsepower decreases fuel econony?
A Al -- all -- everything el se being equal, yes.

Q That was a true and correct answer; was it not?

A | think so.

Q W spoke a nonent ago about the plug-in Saturn Vue

that's in devel opnment.

COURT REPORTERS ASSCOCI ATES



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

125

A Yes.

Q Coul d you explain what a plug-in hybrid is to the
Court, please.

A A plug-in hybrid is a hybrid that can get its battery
charged off the grid or with a plug-in as well as fromthe
engine using as an alternator or fromregenerative braking.
Li ke when you sl ow down, the energy that you | ose, that,

i nstead of heat, goes into the -- to recharge the battery.
Q I"d like to direct your attention back to the statenent
by M. Wagoner in front of Congress.

A Un-oh. There it is.

Q And if you woul d | ook, please, at the fifth page of

t hat docunent, which, by the way, does not have page nunbers
but does appear to have section nunbers. And this is above
Section No. 5 on the fifth page of the docunent.

A kay.

Q The third paragraph on that page begins, "Over the | ast
few nmonths.” Do you see that paragraph?

A Yes, | see that paragraph

Q Coul d you pl ease read the second sentence of that

par agr aph
A "The benefits of electricity include the opportunity to
di versify fuel sources upstream of the vehicle. 1In other

words, the electricity that is used to drive the vehicle can

be made fromthe best |ocal fuel sources: Natural gas,
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coal, nuclear, wind, hydroelectric, and so on."
Q That was a true statenent; was it not?
A Yes.

Q And read, please, if you would, the |ast sentence of

that -- I"'msorry, the second to | ast sentence of that
par agr aph begi nning with the word "and. "
A "And when the electricity itself is made froma

renewabl e source, the entire energy pathway is effectively
gr eenhouse gas em ssions free."

Q That was a true statenent; was it not, M. Wverstad?
A That's -- I'mtrying to think of a possibility where
you could generate electricity with a -- with a renewabl e
source that has sonme greenhouse gases, but |'mnot going to
spend a lot of time thinking about that. |['Il say yes.

Q You probably don't quarrel with M. Wagoner too nuch in

your job, do you?

A It's not a great career nove, that's for sure.
Actually, he's very open to -- to hearing other ideas,

but --

Q " mgoing to show you what's been narked Defendant's
Exhi bit 2566.

A Are we finished with this one, or are we going to keep
it open?

Q Finished with it tenporarily.

This docunent is titled "Fuel Solutions. Wat If
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You Could Commute to Wrk All Week Wthout Using a Drop of
Gasoline?" It's a printout fromGJus Wb site. Do you
recogni ze this to be a true and correct copy of a printout

fromGVs Wb site.

A Quite honestly, |I've never seen it before, but it's got
our bowtie onit, so -- and it says it came from Chevy.com
SO yes.

Q No reason to doubt that it's --
A No.
Q -- a genui ne copy?

MR PAWA: W nove to have this exhibit entered
into evidence, Your Honor

THE COURT: Any objection? No objection?

MR, HEMLEY: | was responding to ny coll eague that
| heard you ask if | have any, and | don't.

THE COURT: Al right. So admtted.

(Defendant's Exhibit No. 2566 was received in
evi dence.)

MR PAWA: | was having troubl e hearing Your
Honor. It's admitted?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR, PAWA:  Thank you.
BY MR PAWA:
Q You're famliar with the Chevy Volt vehicle described

in this docunent?
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A Yes, | am

Q The Chevy Volt has a small three-cylinder engine that
charges a battery, correct?

A That's what the concept is, yes.

Q It uses a new plug-in electric drive systemthat GV
calls E-Flex, correct?

A That's -- once again, that's what our concept is, yes.
Q And this concept car on a 60-mile round trip would get
150 miles to the gallon equivalent; is that correct?

A Theoretically.

Q And it would have a range of 640 mles; is that
correct?

A Once again, theoretically.

Q And the cost to the consuner or vehicle owner of
operating that vehicle would be about one-third the cost of
gasoline if it were charged during off-peak hours, such as
at night, correct?

A Once again, that's -- that's the plan. That's the
concept that we're -- we're devel opi ng.

Q And you charge it by plugging it into an ordinary
outlet; is that correct?

A That's one of the ways of charging it, yes.

Q It's true, is it not, that GMplans to bring the Volt
to market in 20107

A The -- 2010 is a very aggressive target for that
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vehicle. | do not believe it will be in production in 2010
Q Have GM executives and engi neers been stating publicly
that it likely will be brought to market in 20107

THE COURT: Is this cal endar year 2010 or nodel
year we're tal king about?

MR, PAWA: Model vyear.
Q O cal endar year is the question to you.
A The -- you're now seeing an exanple of what M. Kline
said we didn't have, and that is we are very -- the people
saying that are being very optimstic when they say that
we' Il have that vehicle ready in 2010. So we're not al
pessim stic.
Q " mgoing to show you what's been narked as Defendant's
Exhi bit 2567. This is a New York Tinmes article dated
January 7th, 2007, entitled "Detroit Auto Show, All the
Technol ogy Needed For 100 MPG (Batteries Not Included).™
Are you famliar with this article?
A No, |'m not.
Q Are you aware of the statenent by Nick Zelinski, the
Volt's chief engineer, on Page 2 in the fifth paragraph?

MR, HEMLEY: 1'mgoing to object to this, Your
Honor .

THE COURT: Well, it's hearsay. How do you
proffer this, that this is adm ssible?

MR, PAWA:  The Court's indul gence?
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THE COURT: Yes.

(Pause in the proceedings.)
BY MR PAWA:
Q Before we proceed with this docunent, |let me ask you,
Do you agree that there are GMofficials stating publicly,
M. Weverstad, that the Volt is expected to go to market in
20107
A I --

MR HEMLEY: | would ask if that's a question
that's i ndependent of this docunent.

MR PAWA:  Yes.

THE COURT: Correct.

MR HEMLEY: If that would be clear.

THE W TNESS: Ckay.

MR, HEMLEY: So you don't have to | ook at the
docunent .

THE WTNESS: | don't have to read the docunent?
I"mnot certain what our executives have said would be
avai |l abl e.
Q Do you know whet her or not the chief engineer for Volt
is publicly expressing his position that the lithiumion
battery will be ready in 2010?
A Il -- I know M. Zielinski, and I've heard his private
predi ctions.

Q I"mdirecting your attention back to M. Wagoner's
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statenment to Congress, and I'd like you to ook at the
bott om of Page 6.

Page 6 or Number 67

Ri ght bel ow Nunber 6.

kay.

Coul d you read the | ast paragraph on that page, please.

> O » O >

The | ast paragraph says, "W are already working with a
nunber of battery conpanies to devel op the technol ogy
necessary to build a plug-in hybrid. The technol ogica

hurdl es are real, but we believe they are surnountable."

Q Do you agree that they' re surmountable, M. Wverstad?
A | amnot familiar with the details of the lithiumion
battery technol ogy, but as -- as an optim stic engineer, |I'm

sure that they are surnountabl e.

Q Do you recall testifying without any qualification in
your deposition that you agreed with that statenent that the
hurdl es are surnount abl e?

A W didn't limt the anpbunt of noney that it mght cost
and the nunmber of engineers it mght take. As | said, it --
t hey are surnountabl e.

Q Pl ug-in hybrids are excluded fromyour max technol ogy
scenario; are they not?

A Yes, they are.

Q Do you know whether or not there is a potential CO2

advantage for plug-in hybrids relative to gasoline-powered
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vehi cl es?
A Certainly it would be dependent upon where -- how the

electricity was generated, but | think there would be an

advant age.

Q Did you learn that information in the |ast few nonths?
A We've learned a lot in the | ast few nonths, yes.

Q Do you recall testifying as GMs corporate

representative in Septenber of 2006 that you did not know if
there is a potential CO2 advantage for plug-in hybrids
relative to gasoline-powered vehicl es?
A I -- I don't recall saying that, but | would think -- |
don't recall saying that.
Q I"mgoing to play it nowto refresh your recollection

MR, HEMLEY: \hich deposition? Wich page? Wich
line?

MR PAWA:  Septenber 21, Page 173, Lines 8 through
11.

MR HEMLEY: Say that again, please, slower.

MR PAWA:  Septenber 21, Pages -- Page 173, Lines
8 through 11.

[Video clip of deposition of Al an Wverstad
pl ayed as foll ows:

Q Is there a potential carbon dioxide advantage for

plug-in hybrids relative to gasoline-powered vehicles, if

you know?
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A. | don't know. ]
BY MR PAWA:
Q Your testinony today is that you do know and that there
i s an advant age?
A My testinony today is that plug-in hybrids offer the
opportunity for an advant age.
Q M. Weverstad, you would agree that there's roomfor
i nprovenent in the greenhouse gas emissions and in the fue
econony of gasoline engines, correct?
A Yes.
Q Over 80 percent of the thermal energy of a gasoline
engine is wasted; is that correct?
A 80 percent? | would say that -- | think -- |I'm not
sure it's 80 percent, but nost of the -- nost of the | osses
are heat, yes.
Q GM has not prepared for the purposes of this case or
any ot her purpose an add technol ogy scenari o whereby it
| ooks at the ability to conply with AB 1493 by addi ng
technol ogy to conventional gasoline engines, has it?
A We -- our max tech proposal includes adding the green
and yel l ow, which we consider feasible technol ogies.
Q Are you famliar with the positions of the other
manuf acturer plaintiffs in this litigation?
A No, | am not.

Q Are you famliar with the position of DaimerChrysler
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inthis litigation?
A Maybe | -- maybe | m sspoke there. Wen you say

"position,"” what do you nmean by that?
Q Yeah. Let ne clarify for you. Are you famliar with
Daim erChrysler's publicly stated descriptions of its
scenarios for conpliance?
A | -- no, | amnot famliar with their conpliance
scenari os.
Q So you don't know whether or not Daimer has descri bed,
for example, in a pretrial brief in this case an add
t echnol ogy scenari 0?

MR, HEMLEY: (bjection, Your Honor. He's not
famliar with it.

THE COURT: (nbjection sustained. He just said he
didn't know.

MR PAWA:  Yes, Your Honor.
Q Do you recall stating in your deposition that the life
cycle of an engine, not an individual engine but an engi ne
nodel , is about 20 years?
A Yes.
Q And do you recall stating that typically a regulatory
change woul d drive internal changes to the engine?
A Yes.
Q And that was a true statenent; was it not?

A Yes.
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Q And you al so stated that there's a whole nyriad Iist of
reasons why you woul d make changes to the engi nes, correct?
A Yes.

Q And that was a true statenent?

A Yes.

MR, PAWA: The Court's indul gence.

THE COURT: Yes.

(Pause in the proceedings.)

MR, PAWA:  Trying not to run afoul of HC, Your
Honor .
BY MR PAWA:

Q You're famliar, M. Wverstad, w th honogeneous charge

conpression ignition?

A I"'mfamliar with the term nol ogy, yes.
Q HCCI ?
A Yes.

Q As opposed to HCl, which is highly confidential
i nformation.

HCCl is a technol ogy that holds the potential to
greatly inprove fuel econony; does it not?
A It has the potential of inproving fuel econony, yes.
Q Do you know whether or not it's true that HCCl
technol ogy gets 80 percent of the fuel econony benefit of
di esel at 50 percent of the cost?

A I"'mnot famliar with that.
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Q Do you know whet her or not GM has made public
statenents to that effect?

A | believe at ny |ast deposition you showed ne a
docunment that -- that had those words on it, but I'm
personally not famliar with that.

Q Do you have any reason to dispute that?

A | don't dispute that it was on your -- on your
docunents. There are other people following me in this
action that will probably be better able to answer that
guesti on.

Q Do you know whet her or not GM has tested HCC

t echnol ogy?

A I think we've been evaluating it for several years.
Q You're famliar with stratified-charge, direct-

i njection technol ogy, M. Wverstad?

A Fam liar with the term nol ogy, yes.

Q VWhat is stratified-charge engine technol ogy?

A It's a technique to -- to concentrate the charge so

that you have better burning.

Q Has GMtested stratified-charge engi ne technol ogi es?
A I"msure we're evaluating that all the tine.

Q " mgoing to show you what's bei ng marked as

Def endant's Exhi bit 2536. Before | do that, | want to nake
sure this is an acceptabl e redacted version. | said

defendant's. This is Plaintiff's Exhibit 2536.
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VMR, HEMLEY: Defendant's.

MR SCOVILLE: It is Defendant's Exhibit 2536.
This is an acceptabl e redacted version.

MR PAWA: | stand corrected. This is Defendant's
Exhi bit 2536.

THE COURT: This redaction has been nmet with
agreenent ?

MR HEMLEY: Yes. There is a technical issue,
however, because dependi ng on what the questions are, it may
not be fair to the witness to deprive himof a review of
sone of the -- he hasn't seen the redacted version, so

don't know where this is going, but if there's content that

woul d be nore conplete, | guess we'll have to wait and see.
BY MR PAWA:

Q M. Weverstad, are you famliar with this docunent?

A Not in this format, but certainly I am-- this is

anot her docunent you showed nme at ny deposition

Q I showed you the full copy at your deposition, correct?
A Yes. Yes, you did.

Q If you would turn, please, to Pages 5 and 6. Pages 5
and 6 report GM s observations of other conpanies

statenments regarding the fuel econony inprovenents from
using stratified-charge technol ogi es on gasol i ne engines,
correct?

A Yes.
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Q And they report inprovenents anywhere from 15 percent
to over 35 -- to 35 percent, correct?

A | see the 15. Is 35 on the other page?

Q Yeah. It's on Page 5, third line fromthe bottom

A kay. Yes.

Q And these are actual vehicles on the market in Japan
and Europe; are they not, M. Wverstad?

A Yes. | believe sone of them are.

Q And GMtested a particular variant of stratified-
charge, direct-injection technol ogy and determ ned that the
fuel econony inprovenment was between 15 and 20 percent; is

that correct?

A Point me to the -- to the section and I won't take so
| ong.

Q Well, it's been redacted out.

A Ch.

Q The actual nunbers were redacted out pursuant to an
agreement between counsel

A So now what do | do?

Q Rely on your nmenory. Do you recall the answer?

A | recall seeing this -- this docunent, yes, | do

Q And do you have any reason to dispute that one vari ant
tested by GM of the stratified-charge, direct-injection
technol ogy obtained a 15 to 20 percent fuel econony

i mpr ovenent ?
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A | have no reason to doubt that.
Q And anot her variant of the technol ogy obtained a fue
econony i nprovenent --
MR, PAWA:  The Court's indul gence?
THE COURT: Yes.
(Pause in the proceedings.)
BY MR PAWA:
Q And do you recall that GMtested anot her version of
stratified-charge technol ogy that obtained a fuel econony
i nprovenent of somewhere between | ess than 12 and | ess than
15 percent inprovenent?
THE COURT: Less than 12 and | ess than 15?
MR HEMLEY: | think it's 14, isn't it, Matt?
THE COURT: | think less than 12 is |ess than 15.
MR PAWA: That's what | thought, and |I'mreadi ng
froman e-nmail agreement between counsel. |'mtrying very
hard to abide by the agreenent, Your Honor
THE COURT: | appreciate that.
kay.
No reason to dispute that, do you, M. Wverstad?

o r» O >

Those are very substantial inprovenents in fue
econony; are they not, M. Wverstad?
A Yes, they are. Sone of them are neasured under

different test cycles, but clearly inprovenent in fue
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econony.
Q I's there any insurnountable obstacle that you know of
that woul d prevent bringing that technology to market in the
United States?

A My -- ny best recollection of this technology, and this
was actually witten in 2003, so it's -- so we've had sone
time to work on it, but ny best recollectionis it doesn't
nmeet the tail pi pe em ssion standards. Now, once again, |'m
not the best person to ask about this particular technol ogy.
There will be others coming |later that you can -- you can
get a better answer from

Q But as you sit here today testifying on behalf of GV
you know of no such insurnountabl e obstacle, do you,

M. Weverstad?

A I know we've been working on swirl port heads since
1984 and 1983 when | was at Pontiac. One year we'd put them
in; the next year we'd take themout. So -- it's sonething
we' ve been working on for a long tinme. | don't know the
exact state of the art now, but we always ended up having an
em ssi ons probl em

Q And those vehicles are on the road in Europe and Japan
is that correct?

A Wth a different exhaust em ssion requirenent, yes.

VWi ch is the nunber one criteria before we can sell a

vehicl e at any fuel econony, | need to nake sure it passes
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the emi ssions test for its full useful life

Q By -- does direct-injection technology in general
putting aside stratified-charge, inprove fuel econony,

M. Weverstad?

A In general if it's done right, we think it inproves
fuel econony, yes.

Q Is it true that by the end of 2008 GMw || produce as
many as 200, 000 vehicles globally with direct injection?

A I know that we are noving toward direct injection, yes.
I don't know the exact nunbers. |'mnot doubting you. |'m
sure there's a press rel ease sonewhere that you' ve -- you're
quoting, so |I'mnot doubting you. | just don't personally
know t he nunbers.

Q Al right. Wll, it doesn't sound wong to you, then?
A No, it doesn't.

Q And does it also sound correct to you that by 2010 one
out of every six GMvehicles in North Arerica will have
direct injection under your current business plan?

A Yes.

Q Are you able to say what the fuel econony benefit is on
average of direct injection?

A | don't believe that -- that I"'mallowed to say the
exact benefit of that, no.

Q Is GM vigorously pursuing six-speed transm ssions?

A Yes, we are.
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Q Do you know what the fuel econony benefit is of six-

speed transm ssi ons?

A It's in our confidential business docunents that you've
seen.

MR, HEMLEY: Your Honor, | know -- |'m not going
tointerrupt, but I am | knowtimng is an issue. W've

been goi ng about an hour and 50 minutes since the direct --

since the cross started. As | nmentioned at the bench, we

are going to have a fair anmount of redirect exam nation
THE COURT: By "a fair anount," what are you

suggesti ng?

MR HEMLEY: Well, | would suggest that we'll
probably have a m ninmumof a half an hour. | know there are
ot her considerations, and -- but I"'mmaking it clear | also

think that the witness is going to need a break between the
cross and the redirect. So | just offer that because
t hought there was going to be sone effort to keep this
within a containable limt today.

THE COURT: How nuch | onger do you antici pate your
cross to last?

MR PAWA:  Approxi mately ten m nutes.

THE COURT: Okay. Well, you know, | appreciate
the fact that you' re not going to be here tonorrow, and
we're going to have a significant redirect. M question is

whet her or not it would be suitable at this point to break
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and have -- | hate to have M. Wverstad cone back again,
but since it would not be this week, the climte changes
here will be dramatic; that is, it will be spring when you
conme back, and ny question is whether that would be a viable
option for you in particular, M. Pawa.

MR, PAWA:  The Court's indul gence?

THE COURT: kay.

MR, HEMLEY: | woul d suggest, though, we would
want the cross to finish and then -- actually, | have in
mnd two options. One is maybe nore attractive. The notion
of M. Wverstad com ng back when M. Pawa is available is
fine with us. O if the defense prefers and soneone el se
can take care of the redirect, that's fine with us, too.

MR BOCKBI NDER:  Recr oss.

MR, HEMLEY: The recross. Excuse ne. Normally we
woul d object to that, but under the circunmstances we woul d
not .

THE COURT: kay.

MR, PAWA:  Your Honor, it would be acceptable to
the defendants if | finished the cross tonight and redirect
and recross happened tonorrow.

THE COURT: kay. That's fine.

MR, PAWA:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Al right.

(A recess was taken at 4:35 p.m)
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TUESDAY, APRIL 10, 2007
(The following was held in open court at 4:45 p.m)

THE COURT: Okay, M. Pawa? Appreciate the
efforts on the court staff to finish up today.

MR PAVWA:  Well, we appreciate it as well;
very nmuch, your Honor.

ALAN VEVERSTAD,
havi ng previ ously been sworn, was further exam ned
and testified as foll ows:
CONTI NUED CROSS EXAM NATI ON

BY MR PAWA:
Q M. Weverstad, | am show ng you what's bei ng marked
as Defendant's Exhibit 2571.
A Thank you.
Q Thi s docunent is entitled Hydromatic Six-speed
Aut omatic Delivered Perfornmance and Econony for
Ful | -sized SUVs and Performance Cars, and it appears to
be a printout fromGJVs website. Do you recognize this
to be a true copy of a printout fromGVs website?
A Yes. This is another one that | think that you --
you have shown ne in the past.
Q And turning, if you would, please, to page two.

MR, PAWA:  And, your Honor, we nove to have
this docunent admitted into evidence.

THE COURT: Any objection?
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MR, HEMLEY: No objection

THE COURT: So admitted.

(Defendant's Exhibit 2571 was received in
evi dence.)

MR, PAWA:  Your Honor, | also may have
forgotten to nove one of the earlier ones, which was
M. Wagoner's testinony, DX 2554.

THE COURT: M. Wagoner's testinony has been
i ntroduced. Ckay.

There's a question whether you are going to
i ntroduce the whole thing or the small section of it.
You were going to deal with that issue later, but now
you have used it for content so that has been
i ntroduced.

(Defendant's Exhibit 2554 was received in
evi dence.)

MR, PAWA:  Thank you, your Honor

THE COURT: Co ahead.

BY MR PAWA:

Q Directing your attention to page two, fifth

par agraph, towards the end of that paragraph, you wll
see a reference to a four percent inproved fuel econony.
Do you know if that's a true and correct statenent of
the inprovenent in fuel econony fromuse of six-speed

transm ssi ons?
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A VWl l, you know, | honestly -- | don't know. W
shoul d have actual data on that now, so we can -- we can
certainly find that out for you, but -- it's certainly

in the right range

Q And does the fuel econony benefit vary greatly from
one si x-speed engine to anot her?

A Everything varies greatly fromone vehicle to
another, but if you are talking about is it in the right
range, absolutely.

Q Al right. D d you use that nunber in the max
technol ogy scenario, four percent?

A For all of those six-speed transm ssions that we

i ncluded in the analysis, yes.

Q You did? M. Wverstad, General Mtors uses active

fuel managenent on sonme of its engines today, correct?

A Yes, we do.
Q It's al so known as di spl acenent - on-denand, correct?
A Yes.

Q And is that a technol ogy whereby some cylinders are
shut down when they are not needed?

A Yes, we, at cruising speeds, we -- deactivate
cyl i nders.

Q And does that inprove the fuel econony of the
vehi cl e?

A That's the desired goal, yes.
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Q Can you state how much it inproves the fuel econony

of the vehicle?

A It varies. | don't recall the nunber off the top
of ny head.
Q How many different vehicles does GM have on the

mar ket today wi th di spl acenent - on-denmand?

A W have five -- three V8s and -- we have many V8s
and | believe we've now introduced sonme V6 nodel s.

Q Can you give a general range of the fuel econony
i nprovenent of that technol ogy?

A I"mnot sure that | amallowed to give the range
unl ess, you, have sone public statenent that we have
made, and | can take a look at it and tell you if |
think it's right.

Q Do you know if that's publicly avail able

i nformation?

A | honestly --

THE COURT: Is there any objection to
approximations in this particular field? W have been
dealing with approximations all along here. |Is there
any issue in regard to approxi mati ons of the fue
economny benefits?

MR, HEMLEY: Likely not, your Honor. But if
you could just allow soneone closer to that issue to

take a nmonent, | would appreciate it.
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(Brief pause.)

MR, HEMLEY: Maybe -- as | |ook at the
transcript, I'mnot exactly sure -- if we could have a
preci se restatenent of the question because the
statenment that | amreading fromthe Live Note refers to
i nproved technol ogy -- fuel technology -- fuel econony
from quote, that technology. | amnot quite exactly
sure what the question is. And then I can get an
answer .

THE COURT: Specifically, what are you asking
for? You are asking -- you are asking for approxi mate
i nprovenents in fuel econony from what technol ogy at
this particular point?

MR PAWA: It has two names: Active fue
managenent and di spl acenent-on-demand. Fromthat fanmly
of technol ogi es.

THE WTNESS: And | am-- | can answer now?

THE COURT: As a general approximtion, how in
the world would that be --

MR CLUBOK: A general approximtion is
probably fine, your Honor. |If M. Pawa could just tel
us what you need. Wat nunber, what range you are
trying to get.

THE COURT: M. Cdubok is going to testify.

MR CLUBOX: Well, no, no, no
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MR HEMLEY: Your Honor, | think --

MR PAWA: | think they want me to testify but
I won't.

MR CLUBOK:  Your Honor, what we have done
with every other instance of this is we basically said
to the defendants, Wat do you need? Do you need at
| east six? Do you need at |east seven? \Whatever point
you are trying to make, tell us that, and if it's within
arange, if it's approximate, we will agree to it. So,
we really bent over backwards to try to accomodate
what ever point they are trying to nake with these
nunbers, and so, | amjust trying to cut through this.

THE COURT: How about on cross exam nation --
since it's cross exam nation, he can ask a | eadi ng
guestion, and you can ask hi m approxi mately what you
think the benefits mght be in regard to fuel econony
standards, and if you put it in the question itself, he
probably woul d agree.

MR, CLUBOK: Your Honor, we just agreed to the
range.

THE COURT: What is that?

MR CLUBOK: We agreed to a range that is an
approxi mati on, and M. Wverstad can answer that
guesti on.

MR, PAWA:  And, your Honor, the reason | have
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been trying to avoid | eadi ng questions that may touch on
HCl is that it's out of my nouth at that point.

THE COURT: | appreciate it, but now you have
got an approxi mation that you have agreed upon with the
other side. Can you ask the question and we can nove
on.

MR PAWA:  Yes.

BY MR PAWA:

Q Approximately five to seven percent, does that
sound |ike a correct figure?

A Yes.

THE COURT: That wasn't so hard, was it?

THE WTNESS: | was going to say under 10, so
I was going to give you sonet hi ng.

Q Wul d you agree it's under 107?

A Yes, | -- last tine | |ooked, five and seven are

| ess than 10.

Q GM has a proprietary fuel cell stack that it's
working on; is that true?

A That's correct.

Q Can you say when that will be ready?

A We have -- | think we have publicly indicated that
our plan is that it will be ready prior to 2012. Ready
froma standpoint of, it would -- our engineering

program woul d be over, not -- it wouldn't be into
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manuf acturing, if that's what you nean by ready.

So, what ready did you want?
Q Well, do you recall testifying in your deposition
that it would be ready around 2011, 20127
A And | was speaking of from an engi neering
standpoi nt, not a production standpoint.
Q I would like to direct your attention, again, to
Plaintiff's Exhibit 903 which woul d be in that notebook

that M. Henl ey gave you.

A 903. Is that one of our slides?

Q It looks like this. |It's the graph of the LTD2s?
A Yes, | have that. And in fact, it was right on

t op.

Q And, ny question for you is, how can we reconcile
that flat blue line for GMs fuel econony from 2011

t hrough 2016 with the fact that fuel econony standards
fromthe federal government will be increasing from now
t hrough 2011?

A The way you reconcile that, or at |east the way we
were thinking of this, when we devel oped this, is there
could be many small increnental inprovenments over tine
along that line. But if | were to put them down, then
woul d be guaranteeing that that's what changes woul d be
made, and I'm-- we haven't done that because we don't

know what's goi ng to happen between -- after 2011 and --
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Q Isn't it --
A -- 2012.
Q Isn't it customary to have a trend |line continue

over the sanme trajectory?

A That would be a -- actually, | amnot sure that's
the case. Sonetines that nakes sense, sonetines it
doesn't. In this particular case, we took, at the | ast
poi nt we knew for sure, and drew a straight [ine. Now,
we didn't hide the fact that that's what we did. So, we
feel that that's the nost fair way. If | were to draw a
i ne sonewhere slightly higher than that and say that's
what | expect, then |I'm negotiating with nyself.

THE COURT: So as | understand it, you went to
the year 2011 or 2012, and fromthat point, you figure
out a figure, what the fuel econony standard woul d be.
Now t here may be some flexibility com ng down the road,
there may be new technol ogi es, there may be CAFE
standards that you have to react to, there may be
i nprovenents or not, but as a result, you felt that it
was unwi se to adjust that line in any particular way, so
that you could -- basically took the 2011 or 12 figure
and left it flat, knowing that it was a flexible figure,
and coul d be increased?

THE WTNESS: You're exactly right. And for

me to --
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THE COURT: That correspondi ngly neans t hat
t he nunbers that you canme up with -- for instance, in
2016, you cane up with seven mles per gallon -- sure,
10 mles per gallon shortfall on the LTD -- DT-1, that's
a flexible figure because, quite frankly, by 2016, that
underlying flat line may in fact be bunpy.

THE W TNESS: Yes.

THE COURT: O you nmay have increased as a

result of technologies. So that is -- that's
essentially a flexible nunber. It is not cast in stone.
It may or may not be accurate. |1s that -- | nean,

that's how I have heard what you said.

THE WTNESS: And you have heard it exactly
right. The difference is, we don't anticipate a large
increase in that, but for us to predict any increase in
that, or no increase on that, we chose no increase
because that's what we know. Anything el se would have
been a guess.

THE COURT: And the question that | have, in
getting down to the basics of what you testified to,
when you are tal king about the decreasing line -- if you
go to the second scenario, you are tal king about the
vehi cl e reduction part of the scenario. Wen you start
having the line go down to 2016, in which there no

longer will be cars sold in the state of Vernont, and
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theoretically, in response to ny question, you said New
York or California as well, whether that is based upon
those mles per gallon shortfalls, in which case if you
have increased technol ogy, inprovenents to fuel econony,
then that downslide to no vehicles, in any of these
states, is also variable, based upon what happens in the
future.

THE WTNESS: And how we performin the
future. Yes.

THE COURT: So it is -- we are not talking
figures here in 2016 or, for that matter, any tinme after
2011 that are cast in stone. But they're best
estimates; is that correct?

THE WTNESS: Well, what -- what we're
conparing though is, when we | ooked at the nunbers for
nodel elimnation, we were |ooking at the cast-in-stone
nunbers fromthe Vernont regul ation and fromthe
California regulation. Wat we -- what we're tal king
about here is what the federal governnment m ght do, what
ki nd of increnental changes they m ght nake.

THE COURT: Well, actually that's not
exactly -- well, | don't want to get into a debate with
you since | am asking you the question. But when you
talk about the flat |line you are using as variables, the

change in federal CAFE standards as one variable, but
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you are also | ooking at the possibility of other
technol ogi es which, quite frankly, M. Pawa is going
over. And that mght inpact, you know, in your view, to
a |l esser extent, but to some extent, the figures that
you are tal king about, and in regard to reduction of
vehi cl es, the frequency of reduction, the anount of
reduction of vehicles within a jurisdiction.
THE WTNESS: Yes. The size of the bar, yes.
THE COURT: The size of the bar. Basically

what you are saying is they're basically variable, I

t hought .

THE W TNESS: Yes.

THE COURT: And you tell me if |I'm w ong.

THE WTNESS: No. No, | think you are exactly
right.

THE COURT: kay. All right, I think I have
got it. Ckay.
BY MR PAWA:
Q Take a | ook please, if you would, in that sane
not ebook at Plaintiff's Exhibit 906.
A VWi ch one is that?
Q It looks like this. It says GM Maxi mum Technol ogy
Scenario LDT2/MDPV. Slide 21, if that hel ps.
A Yes, that would. Thank you.

Q Sure.
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A Yes.

Q Al the way out through 2016, using the max
technol ogy scenario, is it correct to understand this
exhibit that GMis either in conpliance or is within 0.8
mles per gallon of being in conpliance if it pursues

t he max technol ogy scenario for LDT2/ MDPV?

A Vll, | would argue that eight tenths of a mle per
gallon shortfall is not significant, but the point is,
under the max technol ogy scenario, at a cost of greater
than $15 billion, that's how cl ose we can cone.

Q That's pretty darned close, correct?

A As | said, | would quarrel with point eight is
pretty darned close, but that's how cl ose we cane.

Q And when you say you are going to |lose $15 billion
is that based on sonme real -world econom cs of today of
the vehicle market?

A It's based on our calculation of what the
additional cost for the hardware and the cost of the
tooling, over a -- averaged over a five-year period,
versus what we could earn, you know, what we could sel
it for. So we get -- we take that into account, the
increase in price, and we also took into account the
changes we anticipate for -- under the CAFE

requi renents.

Q How do you know what you can sell a vehicle for at
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A We know what we can sell it for today, so we -- we
assunme that the sane kinds of nunbers that -- as we did
for today.

Q You didn't take into account the fact that in 2014,
if this lawsuit fails, all fuel economnmy standards wl|
be in conpliance and that will change the econom cs of
the vehicle market, would it not?

A | do not believe we took into account what you are
tal ki ng about there, no.

Q Do you know whet her or not GM has pl edged to reduce
the CO2 enmissions fromits factories by 40 percent?

A W& have -- we have agreed to reduce our -- we have
a goal to reduce the CO2 fromour factories. | don't
know about the 40 percent, but | am assumi ng that you
have a docunment there that says that, so that's fine.

Q Al right. Thank you. And what's the reason for
GM doi ng that, do you know?

A There are several reasons. One of the rea

advant ages is that saving energy saves nobney so

there's -- that's one plus; reason. Any waste that you
can save is sonething that we want to do

Q Any ot her reasons?

A Clearly we want to be good citizens and contribute

to reduced energy waste.
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Q Have anything to do with gl obal warm ng?

MR HEMLEY: Your Honor, | think I wll
i nterpose an objection here. The operation of their
factory seens far afield fromthe issues that are in
this trial. | didn't think this was an issue. In fact,
I recall discussions about it not being an issue, but in
any event --

THE COURT: Well, you are linking this up
to -- fromthe well-to-wheel factors in some particul ar
way? In which case | amnot so sure this wi tness would

be the expert who would be testifying about that.

MR PAWA: | will wthdraw the question, your
Honor .

MR HEMLEY: Al right.
BY MR PAWA:

Q M. Weverstad, you would agree that GM has an
extraordinary ability to innovate technol ogically,
correct?

A We are very proud of our abilities, yes.

Q And you renenber testifying in your deposition
"We're as good as anybody." Do you renenber that?
| would say that again.

It's true, isn't it?

We think so.

o r» O >

GMis as good as anyone else, isn't it?
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Q As good as any ot her autonobil e manufacturer

correct?
A Yes.

Q And you think, do you not,

that on a

segnent - by- segnent basis, you're conpetitive with

Toyota, correct?

A W're -- we believe on a segnent-by-segnent basis

we are conpetitive with all the manufacturers.

MR. PAWA:  The Court's indul gence?

THE COURT: Yes.

(Brief pause.)

MR, PAWA: Last docunent, your Honor. Last

coupl e of questi ons.

Q I am going to show you what's bei ng marked

Def endant' s 2572.
A Thank you.

Q Thi s docunent is entitled

GM Ofers Gas Price

Protection to Consuners in Florida and California. It's

a GM press rel ease dated May 23rd, 2006. Do you

recogni ze this docunment, M. Wverstad?

A Yes, | believe it's one that you showed ne at the

past deposition.
Q No reason to dispute that

GM press rel ease?

it's a genuine copy of a
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A No.

VMR PAWA: Mve to admt it into evidence,
your Honor.

THE COURT: Any objection?

MR, HEMLEY: No, no objection

THE COURT: So admitted.

(Defendant's Exhibit 2572 was received in
evi dence.)

Q Do you know whether it's true, M. Wwverstad, as
described in this docunent, that GM has been offering
gas price protection in 2006 and 2007 to consuners in
Fl orida and California?
A I don't know that we offered gas protection in 2006
and 2007. | think we offered it for some 2006 and sone
2007 vehi cl es.
Q And coul d you describe what that programis
pl ease?
A Wll, as | -- | said in ny deposition, | wasn't
particularly famliar with this, so if you want nme to
read t hrough here, 1'Il tell you, but I"Il give you ny
vi ew of reading this.

THE COURT: Well --

MR, HEMLEY: The docunent's in evidence.

THE COURT: The docunent is in evidence.

MR PAWA: That's fine. I will nove on
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THE COURT: Ckay.

Q M. Wver st ad.

Yes.
Q To summari

not include --

ze, the maxi numtechnol ogy scenario does

does not include any cl ean diesel

correct? In terns of a large increase to --

A No, it does not.

Q -- totry to conply with AB 14937

A W chose t

Q And zero f

he hybrid instead.

or ethanol in the max technol ogy

scenari o, correct?

A W di d not

bel i eve we would be able to get credit.

Q That's a yes?

A W di d not

include it because we don't

we can neet the enissions standards.

Q And zero f

scenario? |'m

or hybrids? 1In the

max technol ogy

sorry, plug-in hybrids?

A Zero for plug-in hybrids.

Q And zero for HCC technol ogy?

A Zero for HCC

Q And zero for stratified charged direct

correct?

A There are

none i ncl uded.

know t hat

i njection,

MR PAWA:  No further questions, your Honor

Thank you very,

very nmuch for your

pati ence today,

and

22
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thank you to the witness and to plaintiffs' counsel

THE COURT: Well, bon voyage for your famly
vacati on.

THE WTNESS: You know, they forgot to offer
I'"d go with you and you can do it there. \Werever you
are going, it's gotta be better.

THE COURT: Al right. | ask that you be back
at 8:15 tomorrow norning. The parties understood that
soneone else will be able to do the cross examni nation
fromthe --

MR WYNN:  Yes, your Honor, if we could on
t hat question for a nmonent?

THE COURT: Sure.

MR WYNN: Australians like to get the first
word and maybe even the | ast.

Your Honor, | ooks like | amgoing to be responsible
for any recross that there would be. Considering that
the court staff and your Honor, and everyone el se has
been so giving of their tine today, and considering that
your Honor obviously has the idea of getting the 40
hours in, and we've done many of those 40 hours today, |
wondered if we could not agree to start at, say, nine
o' clock tomorrow norning? Particularly because we woul d
expect to get denonstrative exhibits today as |ate as

seven o' clock, and there's going to be very little tine
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to review those for the followi ng witnesses in chief
that will follow after M. Wverstad is finished.

THE COURT: kay. Well, are you going to be
doi ng the next w tnesses?

MR WYNN:  No, not mne, but presune that
counsel will be here to hear the rest of M. Wwverstad,
and there won't be nmuch tine to review those. But
really, the point, your Honor, is that a slight later
start | don't think would have any problens, and
frankly, it would give ne a tinme to read the transcri pt
if 1 amgoing to have to do the redirect -- recross.

THE COURT: Ckay, M. Henley?

MR HEMLEY: | don't want to be the grinch
here, your Honor. | amdefinitely not Australian. But,
in any event, we very nmuch oppose that, and M. Wnn did
approach ne in advance to tell me he was going to nmake
this application.

Qur wi tnesses have been scheduled for a long tinmne.
Many of them have transportati on needs to neet. W
tried to accommodate -- renenber the extension of this
day was an accommodation that we nade, and we'd like to
start at 8:15 and get back on schedul e as soon as
we can.
THE COURT: | really think it's inmportant to

stay on schedule at this point because we are doing this
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concentrated time period, and, you know, even though
there's a couple of extra hours put in at this point, it

is fairly close, all the way down the road, so, skip

di nner.

MR WYNN: | have gotten used to that, your
Honor .

THE COURT: Al right. W wll start at 8:15
t onor r ow.

(Court was in recess at 5:13 p.m)

kkk *k **k*k
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